IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2010-TS-01465

PHILLIPS 66 COMPANY et al.

APPELLANTS

VS.

TROY LOFTON

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JONES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

J. Jeffrey Trotter
MS Bar No.
Holmes S. Adams
MS Bar No.
Bernard H. Booth, IV
MS Bar No. 100068
ADAMS AND REESE LLP
1018 Highland Colony Parkway, Suite 800
Ridgeland, MS 39157

Telephone: (601) 353-3234 Facsimile: (601) 355-9708 Alex E. Cosculluela
MS Pro Hac Vice No.

A. Christopher Derden
MS Pro Hac Vice No. 992368
ADAMS AND REESE LLP
One Houston Center
1221 McKinney, Suite 4400
Houston, TX 77010
Telephone: (713) 652-5151

Telephone: (713) 652-5151 Facsimile: (713) 652-5152

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The Court should reverse and render judgment in favor of CPChem because Lofton's claim accrued no later than 1996 when he knew, or reasonably should have known, of his injury. Lofton did not file suit until May 10, 2004. His claims are time-barred by the three-year statute of limitations. *Lincoln Elec. Co. v. McLemore*, 54 So.3d 833 (Miss. 2010); *Angle v. Koppers, Inc.*, 42 So.3d 1 (Miss. 2010).
- 2. The Court should reverse and render judgment in favor of CPChem on the design defect claim for any of the following reasons:
 - A. The Mississippi Product Liability Act's ("MPLA") inherent characteristic defense protects CPChem from liability. Miss. Code Ann. §11-1-63(b). Asbestos was the inherent characteristic of the product that allegedly caused injury. Asbestos could not be eliminated from the product without substantially compromising the product's usefulness or desirability, and the hazardous nature of asbestos was common knowledge in the community.
 - B. Lofton did not prove the product failed to function as expected. Miss. Code Ann. §11-1-63(f)(ii). The failure to function as expected element requires more than product use coupled with injury.
 - C. Lofton did not prove a feasible design alternative for Flosal. Miss. Code Ann. §11-1-63(f)(ii). Non-asbestos viscosifiers are not alternative designs for Flosal. They are different products.
 - D. Lofton failed to prove the frequency, regularity and proximity of his exposure to the product. *Monsanto Co. v. Hall*, 912 So.2d 134 (Miss. 2005); *Gorman-Rupp Company v. Hall*, 908 So.2d 749 (Miss. 2005).
- 3. The Court should reverse and render judgment in favor of CPChem on the negligent infliction of emotional distress claim because the claim is subsumed by the MPLA. If not subsumed by the MPLA, Lofton's testimony that he worried about who will take care of his wife when he dies and about developing cancer is legally insufficient. *Adams v. U.S. Homecrafters, Inc.*, 744 So.2d 736 (Miss. 1999); *Morrison v. Means*, 680 So.2d 803 (Miss. 1996).
- 4. Alternatively, the Court should order a new trial for any of the following reasons:
 - A. The circuit court abused its discretion when it denied a change of venue where the evidence of bias in Jones County was greater than that in *Janssen Pharmaceutica*, *Inc. v. Bailey*, 878 So.2d 31 (Miss. 2004).
 - B. The circuit court abused its discretion when it admitted testimony of Lofton's industrial hygiene witness Kenneth Cohen. Cohen's testimony from an unrelated

trial should not have been read to the jury. Cohen's opinion that a worker's exposure to asbestos is substantial if it is one fiber above ambient has no reliable foundation in science; he never explained his methodology; and he is not qualified by education or experience as an expert industrial hygienist. *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharms.*, 509 U.S. 579 (1993); *Miss. Transp. Comm'n v. McLemore*, 863 So.2d 31 (Miss. 2003); Mississippi Rule of Evidence 702.

- C. The circuit court permitted Lofton's counsel to "testify" about irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial drilling records (Exhibit 950) under the guise of cross-examining CPChem's expert pulmonologist when (1) the drilling records were outside the scope of the pulmonologist's expertise and not relevant to his medical opinions, and (2) the records did not correspond to any well where Lofton worked.
- D. The jury's failure to allocate liability against responsible third parties is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and demonstrates bias, prejudice, and passion. The jury ignored undisputed evidence that Lofton's employers were required under OSHA to provide him with a safe workplace, yet failed even to provide him respiratory protection while he worked with asbestos mud additives. And, despite Lofton's testimony of simultaneous use of multiple asbestos products and his failure to differentiate his alleged exposures, the jury allocated all liability against CPChem, the only trial defendant.
- 5. In the further alternative, if the Court does not reverse and render or grant a new trial, substantial remittitur of the judgment is warranted. The jury's allocation of all liability against CPChem and the \$15.2 million verdict evidences the jury's bias, prejudice, and passion. The allocation of liability and the damages awarded are not supported by credible evidence.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Reverse and Render

The Court's decision to reverse and render is governed by the following standard:

[T]his Court will consider the evidence in light most favorable to the appellee, giving that party the benefit of all favorable inference that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence. If the facts so considered point so overwhelmingly in favor of the appellant that reasonable men could not have arrived at a contrary verdict, we are required to reverse and render.

Coho Res., Inc. v. Chapman, 913 So.2d 899, 904 (Miss. 2005) (citations omitted).

New Trial

The Court's decision to grant a new trial is governed by the following standard:

A new trial may be granted where the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, or when the jury has been confused by faulty instructions, or when the jury has departed from its oath and its verdict is a result of bias, passion, and prejudice.

Coho Res., Inc., 913 So.2d at 908.

1034977-1

Change of Venue

Abuse of discretion governs the Court's review of denial of CPChem's motion for change of venue. *Janssen Pharmaceutica, Inc. v. Bailey*, 878 So.2d 31 (Miss. 2004).

Remittitur

Miss. Code Ann. §11-1-55 authorizes remittitur where the Court finds the jury's award of damages is excessive as the result of bias, prejudice, or passion. *Bankers Life & Casualty Co. v. Crenshaw*, 483 So.2d 254, 278 (Miss. 1985).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition in the Court Below

Lofton alleges he suffers asbestosis resulting from exposure to various asbestos drilling mud viscosifiers. Asbestosis is defined as diffuse pulmonary fibrosis caused by the inhalation of excessive amounts of asbestos fibers; although increasingly rare, asbestosis typically occurs in individuals with prolonged and heavy exposure to asbestos. Roggli, et al., Pathology of Asbestosis—An Update of the Diagnostic Criteria, Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med., Vol. 134, p. 462, 467 (March 2010).

This case began as one of twenty-three separate "placeholder" lawsuits involving 825 individual asbestosis claimants, all represented by the same lawyers. The claimants, including

3

Lofton, alleged they were exposed to asbestos drilling mud additives they worked with or around on drilling rigs from the mid-1960s through the mid-1980s. CPChem's predecessor, Drilling Specialties Company ("DSC"), distributed its asbestos viscosifier, Flosal, from 1963 through 1984. Defendants Union Carbide Corporation ("UCC") and Montello continued distribution of their asbestos viscosifiers through 1985.

On May 19, 2004, the "placeholder" case styled *Howard Lambert, et al. v. Phillips 66*Co., et al., Civil Action No. 2004-85-CV5 was filed in Jones County, Mississippi. The circuit court severed the misjoined claims of the *Lambert* claimants, including Lofton's claim. On March 8, 2006, Lofton filed his individual complaint in Jones County, Mississippi. R.181-188.

Before trial, all other defendants, including UCC and Montello, who marketed and sold their own asbestos viscosifiers, Visbestos and SuperVisbestos, settled with Lofton and were dismissed.

The trial took place from March 29, 2010, through April 8, 2010, with CPChem as the sole trial defendant. Lofton's case proceeded on two product liability theories (design defect and inadequate warning), as well as claims for intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress. The jury found for Lofton on his design defect and negligent infliction of emotional distress claims. The jury awarded Lofton economic damages of \$200,000 and *non*-economic damages of \$15 million, for total damages of \$15.2 million. The jury assessed all liability against CPChem. RE 4, 10350-10355.

The circuit court denied CPChem's pre-trial evidentiary and dispositive motions. The circuit court also denied CPChem's motions to change venue. During trial, the circuit court

Citations to the Record are designated "R.__." Citations to the Record Excerpts are designated "RE_." Citations to the trial transcript are designated "Tr._."

denied CPChem's motions for directed verdict and overruled numerous evidentiary objections.

After trial, the circuit court denied CPChem's motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and for new trial. CPChem timely filed this appeal.

II. Statement of Facts

A. Drilling Specialties sold asbestos as a drilling mud additive named Flosal.

Flosal is the product at issue. Flosal was a drilling mud additive composed of 5-15% water (for binding purposes) and 85-95% chrysotile asbestos. Flosal was a "viscosifier" whose function was to increase the viscosity of, or thicken, drilling mud fluids. Tr. 918. Flosal was a specialty-use product, used on only 5-10% of wells drilled in Mississippi. Ex. 2003, 242:10-243:4. Every witness testified Flosal was an excellent viscosifier that increased the viscosity of drilling mud. *See* Section I.C below.

DSC distributed Flosal from November 1963 through August 1984 to drilling mud service companies. These companies were sophisticated intermediaries who, in turn, re-sold Flosal, other mud products, and additives to well operators or drilling contractors and then daily directed the products' use on a rig-by-rig basis.² Tr. 354-361; R. 2530.

"Drilling mud" refers to the fluids used on a drilling rig to lift cuttings—the dirt, rock or shale drilled—from the bottom of the well bore to the surface. Drilling mud is pumped down the well bore, through the drill pipe, through the drill bit, and back to the surface, carrying the cuttings to the surface. The drilling mud is then routed through equipment on the surface where

During this time, DSC rebranded Flosal for sale by third party drilling mud service companies under the trade names Visquick, Shurlift and Imcobest. For purposes of this brief, these products are referred to collectively as "Flosal." UCC mined, milled and packaged, and Montello distributed, competing asbestos viscosifiers under the trade names Visbestos and SuperVisbestos, as well as others, from which Lofton also claimed exposure to asbestos.

cuttings are removed, and the mud is re-circulated to the bottom of the well bore. Typically, fresh or salt water is the primary drilling fluid used when drilling is commenced. After reaching a certain depth, the drilling crew "muds up," by adding various bulk products and chemicals to the water to conform the drilling mud to the prescribed drilling mud program adopted by the well operator. Depending on the characteristics sought, drilling mud additives are added during different stages of the drilling process. Drilling mud engineers who work for drilling mud service companies create the prescribed drilling mud program, or "recipe," for the mud on a particular well and specify the general-use and specialty-use additives to be used. Tr. 245-247; 356-359.

Mud additives include hundreds of material and chemicals, such as, to name a few, clay, bentonite, attapulgite, gel, glycol, cellulose polymers, lime, paper, walnut shells, pecan hulls, starch, caustic soda, and barite. Ex. 2003, 165, 201, 239-240. Asbestos was one specialty-use mud additive—used as a viscosifier or thickener. Several different asbestos viscosifiers were marketed during the period from the mid-1960s through the mid-1980s, including, for example, Visbestos, SuperVisbestos, IMCO Shurlift, IMCO Superbest, Visquick and Flosal. Tr. 367-372.

B. Lofton knew, or reasonably should have known, of his injury by 1996 but did not file suit until 2004.

Lofton knew throughout the 1960s, 1970s, and 1980s he was working with asbestos.

RE 3, 372:3-19. Despite printed warnings on the Flosal bags, Lofton testified it was not until the 1980s he learned excessive exposure to asbestos could cause serious injury. RE 3, 306:15—307:1; 307:10-15; 373:15-29.

Lofton's doctors document his alleged lung injury as early as 1983. As detailed at pp.11-15 below, by the mid-1990s, Lofton was complaining to his doctors of symptoms associated with asbestosis—i.e., shortness of breath and "smothering." This was a decade <u>after</u> he knew asbestos

exposure could injure his lungs and almost a decade <u>before</u> he filed his lawsuit. Lofton's doctors documented his injury variously as pulmonary interstitial stranding, scarring, pleural and parenchymal changes, and fibrosis—all recognized and unmistakable markers of asbestos-related injury.

C. Lofton's product identification and exposure testimony is too vague to establish liability against CPChem.

Lofton worked for various drilling contractors from 1964 to 2006 as a floorhand and a motorman. Lofton testified he had various responsibilities as a floorhand—mixing drilling mud, maintaining the mud pumps, and relieving the motorman. Tr. 273-274; 248; 405. As a motorman, Lofton was responsible for maintaining all of the motors on the drilling rig. Tr. 350:19-25.

Lofton claims he was injured by exposure to asbestos viscosifiers while working as a floorhand and motorman. During his deposition, however, Lofton testified that as a motorman, his primary occupation after 1975, he mixed drilling mud "very seldom." When questioned whether he could remember which of the nine different asbestos viscosifiers he worked with between 1964 and 1983, at which rig site, or in which field, Lofton admitted he could not:

No sir. It's been - 20, 30 years ago, and I like I say, it's - it was mandatory that we [had] one of them on there. I can't tell you which one of them was on there. I can't tell you what job it was on. It's been a long time.

R. 7192, 64 (emphasis added).

At trial, Lofton's testimony changed but was no less deficient. Although he testified he used drilling mud additives, including Flosal, sometime during 1964 to 1967 and again during the 1970s, he failed to specify which products he used on which locations, or how often or how much he may have used on any location. Instead, Lofton testified generally that he recalled using

7

1034977-1

various asbestos viscosifiers while working for different employers. Most often, when Lofton testified about using asbestos viscosifiers, he testified to his simultaneous use of Flosal, Visbestos (mined, milled and packaged by UCC and distributed by Montello) and other asbestos viscosifiers. At other times, Lofton did not identify any particular product, claiming only that he was exposed to unspecified asbestos drilling mud additives.

Additionally, in an attempt to bolster his alleged exposure, Lofton testified at trial he mixed drilling mud while working as a motorman but that he had "fibbed" during his deposition when he testified motormen "very seldom" mix mud. Tr. 353:5–354:8. ("Q. So you were wrong? A. I fibbed."). Although his lawyers enrolled over 700 other former oilfield workers as claimants through their asbestos screenings at Jackson and Hattiesburg, Mississippi, motels, not a single co-worker or any other witness corroborated Lofton's claims he was exposed to asbestos from Flosal or any other asbestos drilling mud additive.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court should reverse and render judgment in favor of CPChem. Lofton's claims accrued by 1996 when he knew, or reasonably should have known, of his injury. He did not file suit until May 10, 2004. Consequently, the three-year statute of limitations bars his claim. Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-49; *Lincoln Electric Co. v. McLemore*, 54 So.3d 833 (Miss. 2010); *Angle v. Koppers, Inc.*, 42 So.3d 1 (Miss. 2010). *See* Section I.A below.

Lofton's design defect claim fails for several reasons. The MPLA's inherent characteristic defense protects CPChem from liability because the design defect alleged is the presence of asbestos in Flosal. This claim fails because asbestos was the inherent characteristic of Flosal (Flosal was 85-95% asbestos, the remainder water), asbestos could not be eliminated from Flosal without substantially compromising the product's usefulness or desirability, and the

hazardous potential of asbestos was common knowledge in the community. Miss. Code Ann. §11-1-63(b). See Section I.B below. Lofton's design defect claim also fails because he did not prove Flosal failed to function as expected. Miss. Code Ann. §11-1-63(f)(ii). See Section I.C below. And Lofton failed to prove a feasible alternative design for Flosal. See Section I.D below.

Lofton failed to prove the frequency, regularity and proximity of his exposure to asbestos from Flosal. *Monsanto Co. v. Hall*, 912 So.2d 134 (Miss. 2005); *Gorman-Rupp Company v. Hall*, 908 So.2d 749 (Miss. 2005). *See* Section I.E below.

Lofton failed to prove negligent infliction of emotional distress. CPChem submits this cause of action is subsumed by the MPLA. If not subsumed by the MPLA, Lofton's evidence that he worried about who will take care of his wife after his death and about developing cancer from asbestos is factually and legally insufficient. *Adams v. U.S. Homecrafters, Inc.*, 744 So.2d 736 (Miss. 1999); *Morrison v. Means*, 680 So.2d 803(Miss. 1996). *See* Section I.F below.

In the alternative, this case should be remanded for new trial because CPChem did not receive a fair trial by an impartial jury. The circuit court abused its discretion by denying CPChem's motions for change of venue where the evidence of bias in Jones County exceeds that presented in *Janssen Pharmaceutica*, *Inc. v. Bailey*, 878 So.2d 31 (Miss. 2004). *See* Section II.A below.

The circuit court abused its discretion during jury voir dire, qualification, and selection, exacerbating the pre-existing bias and prejudice of the venue. See Section II.B below.

The circuit court abused its discretion by permitting Lofton's counsel to read testimony from Lofton's expert, Kenneth Cohen, from an unrelated trial. Cohen's opinion—that a worker's exposure to asbestos is substantial if it is one fiber above ambient levels—has no reliable basis,

Cohen never explained his methodology, and Cohen is not qualified by education or experience as an expert in industrial hygiene. *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharms.*, 509 U.S. 579 (1993); *Mississippi Transp. Comm'n v. McLemore*, 863 So.2d 31 (Miss. 2003); Mississippi Rule of Evidence 702. *See* Section II.C below.

The circuit court abused its discretion by permitting Lofton's counsel to "testify" from irrelevant and prejudicial drilling records (Plaintiff Ex. 950) under the guise of cross-examining CPChem's expert pulmonologist. The drilling records were beyond the scope of the pulmonologist's expertise and not relevant to his medical opinions, and the drilling records do not correspond to any drill site where Lofton worked. *See* Section II.D below

CPChem denies Lofton was injured by exposure to asbestos from Flosal. However, because the jury found Lofton was injured by exposure to asbestos from drilling mud additives, the jury erroneously failed to allocate liability against responsible third parties, including Lofton's employers, drilling mud service companies and well operators (for failing to provide him respiratory protection and necessary instruction or training) and the manufacturers and sellers of asbestos viscosifiers Lofton claimed caused him injury (including JM, UCC, and Montello). There are myriad responsible third parties, but the jury illogically elected to assess all liability against the only trial defendant CPChem. *See* Section II.E below.

If the Court does not reverse and render or, in the alternative, grant a new trial, CPChem requests remittitur because the \$15 million verdict for *non*-economic damages—which is 75 times Lofton's stipulated economic damages—is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, shocks the conscience, and further demonstrates the jury's bias, prejudice, and passion. *See* Section III below.

ARGUMENT

- I. The judgment should be reversed and rendered.
- A. Lofton's claims are time-barred because he knew, or reasonably should have known, of his injury by 1996 but did not file suit until 2004.

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