IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2010-TS-01465

PHILLIPS 66 COMPANY et al.

APPELLANTS

vs.

TROY LOFTON

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JONES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Mr. Gregory N. Jones MS Bar No. 4265 San Felipe Road, Suite 1200 Houston, Texas 77027 (713) 850-7766 (telephone) (713) 552-1758 (facsimile)

Mr. S. Robert Hammond, Jr. S. Robert Hammond, Jr., P.L.L.C. 711 Hardy Street Hattiesburg, MS 39402-6567

Mr. J. Robert Sullivan, Sr.
MS Bar No.
Mr. James Robert Sullivan, Jr.
MS Bar No.
Sullivan & Sullivan, PC
415 North Magnolia Street, Suite 406
P.O. Box 45
Laurel, MS 39441-0045

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

CPChem next argues that the trial court erred in overruling several challenges for cause.

"A juror who may be removed on a challenge for cause is one against whom a cause for

challenge exists that would likely affect his competency or impartiality at trial." Gorman v. McMahon, 792 So.2d 307, 316 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) (quoting Berry v. State, 703 So.2d 269, 292 (Miss. 1997)). The trial court sits in the best position to determine whether a juror should be excluded; thus, "[the] trial court has wide discretion in determining whether to excuse prospective jurors, including those challenged for cause." Id. at 317(25) (quoting Poe v. State, 739 So.2d 405, 409 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999)). CPChem complains that its challenges for cause with regard to the following jurors should have been granted: Juror Coleman, Juror Lewis, Juror Wyndham, Juror McKenzie, Juror Jenkins, Juror Allison, Juror Hosey, Juror Jones, Juror Woodard, Juror Newall. With respect to Juror Coleman, the record reflects that CPChem merely "believed" that his son might have had an asbestos case. (Tr. 201:29-202:6). There was no proof of this fact, and thus, the trial court was correct in overruling the motion to strike. Similarly, CPChem believed that Juror Lewis's son and husband were "possible" asbestos claimants; however, no proof was presented for this claim. (Tr. 203:5-19). Additionally, Mr. Lofton's counsel noted that Juror Lewis's questionnaire actually referenced a cousin with a claim, and not her son or husband. Id. Thus, the trial court did not err in overruling CPChem's motion to strike.

With respect to Juror Wyndham, CPChem objected because Ms. Wyndham's parents had been represented by Mr. Lofton's counsel, Mr. Robert Sullivan. (Tr. 197:19-24). However, when asked if this fact would prevent her from being a fair juror, Ms. Wyndham responded in the negative. (Tr. 89:9-26). With regard to Juror McKenzie, CPChem relied on an unsworn statement in a jury questionnaire and not on any statements she made during voir dire. (Tr. 204:11-205:12). CPChem objected to Juror Jenkins merely because of his work history at Masonite. As CPChem acknowledged, it had no claim information on Mr. Jenkins. (Tr. 205:19-

23. Similarly, Juror Allison's grandfather worked at Masonite (Tr. 197:1-7), Juror Hosey worked at Masonite (Tr. 198:12-22), Juror Jones's father worked at Masonite (Tr. 201:5-9), Juror Woodard worked for Masonite (Tr. 197:25-198:11), and Juror Newall worked for Howard Industries (Tr. 202:16-26). CPChem presented no evidence that any of these jurors had an asbestos claim or injury. Nor does CPChem argue that they stated anything other than that they could be fair and impartial jurors. Given this information, the trial court did not err in overruling CPChem's motions to strike.

C. THE TESTIMONY OF KENNETH COHEN WAS SUFFICIENT TO SATISFY DAUBERT/MCLEMORE.

CPChem argues that Dr. Cohen's testimony in the *Elsie Smith* trial cannot be used to prove specific causation in the instant case. However, Dr. Cohen did not offer any testimony with respect to Mr. Lofton's occupational exposure to asbestos. CPChem has ignored the fact-that Dr. Cohen's testimony was offered only as support for general causation and a critique of CPChem's site-testing procedures. Any argument to the contrary is misleading, and CPChem's objection to Dr. Cohen's "foundation" is baseless. Furthermore, CPChem's suggestion that the trial court "abdicated its gate-keeping responsibility" is simply not true. Significant briefing and hearing time before Special Master Robert Gholson was dedicated to Dr. Cohen's pending

CPChem also argues that Dr. Cohen's opinion is inapplicable to an asbestosis case, as compared to a cancer case. However, as explained above, Dr. Cohen's testimony in this case dealt with general causation as well as a critique of CPChem's site-testing procedures, which has no bearing on which asbestos-related disease is at issue. Additionally, Dr. Cohen testified as an industrial hygienist, not as a medical expert, and his testimony was limited to the opinion that, based on the evidence and documentation he reviewed, the level of asbestos exposure was substantial. (Px. 2002, 147:8-20). He also testified that, from an industrial hygiene perspective, there is a correlation between substantial and significant asbestos exposure and disease. (Px. 2002, 152:22-153:2). Clearly, this industrial hygiene opinion is relevant and reliable, whatever the asbestos-related disease the worker ends up developing. CPChem cites to its own expert's opinion to refute the opinion of Dr. Cohen; however, the existence of opposing expert opinions is certainly not a new phenomenon in litigation and should not be used to refute the opposing expert's qualifications or reliability. This role is delegated to the jury.

testimony, which resulted in the admission of his prior testimony related to general causation and his criticism of CPChem's site-testing procedures. (CR-2938; 3736; 3895; 5358; 9519; 9628; 9895; 9909; 10163; 10370).

CPChem also claims Dr. Cohen is not qualified to testify as an industrial hygienist, another assertion exhaustively argued before the Special Master. Dr. Cohen obtained his Bachelor of Science from San Diego State University. (Px. 2002, 26:6-14). He received his doctorate from California Western University in 1976. (Id.). He worked for over 30 years in the occupational safety and health area. (Px. 2002, 38:1-25, 39, 40:1-2). He was a registered professional engineer in the area of industrial safety in California for 25 years before retiring. (Id.). Finally, he was a registered environmental assessor—evaluating environmental sites for hazardous materials or hazardous exposures—in California for four to five years. In addition, he was an employee of Cal-OSHA. (Px. 2002, 42:23-43:21). He was a certified industrial hygienist—the highest level of attainment in the field of industrial hygiene—for 25 years before retiring. (Px. 2002, 39:23-25, 40:1-2. He was a certified Asbestos Hazard Emergency Response Act ("AHERA") asbestos inspector, a management planner, and inspector for asbestos in schools. (Px. 2002, 41:11-25, 42:1-4). Additionally, Dr. Cohen has taken numerous classes on asbestos and industrial hygiene to stay current on the topics. (Px. 2002, 41:5-25, 42:1-19, 43:22-25, 44:1-2). This is in addition to the individual lectures and articles he has given or authored on the same topics. (Px. 2002, 49:9-24). He is and has been a member of the American Academy of Industrial Hygiene, American Society of Safety Engineers, American College of Toxicology, and American Industrial Hygiene Association. (Px. 2002).

Despite this extensive background, CPChem attacks Dr. Cohen, alleging he lacks the qualifications to testify as an expert in industrial hygiene. CPChem emphasizes he failed out of

UCLA while it ignores that he later received a bachelor degree from San Diego State University. CPChem impugns Dr. Cohen's doctorate degree because the university no longer exists and he completed his degree without taking classes at the university and doing it in a period of nine months. This might be noteworthy but for the fact that he had obtained credit for coursework he had previously done in a masters program at San Diego State University and spent the nine months working on and presenting his dissertation. (Px. 2002, 31-32). Finally, CPChem tries to impute significance to the fact that Dr. Cohen took two credentialing exams multiple times before passing in an effort to discredit the reality that he passed the exams and has worked in the field for 30 years, teaching courses on the subject and obtaining licensing from a number of different organizations. Dr. Cohen was tendered as an industrial hygienist. He is certified as an industrial hygienist. His studies in the work of asbestos, AHERA, and his articles—just to name a few—qualify him to give an opinion.

Dr. Cohen's opinions also easily satisfy the reliability prong of the *Daubert/McLemore* standard. CPChem complains about Dr. Cohen's methodology for arriving at the opinion that "exposure to one fiber above ambient levels is 'substantial and significant." (CPChem's Brief at 36). CPChem continues to refer to Dr. Cohen's alleged "one fiber opinion" throughout its attack on his testimony; however, CPChem's argument does not accurately or reliably represent Dr. Cohen's testimony at trial. Dr. Cohen testified that, based on the documentary evidence he reviewed, being able to visibly see asbestos in the air signifies that the fiber count would be no less than 20 fibers/cc, based on minimum lighting conditions. (Px. 2002, 147:8-20). Dr. Cohen then testified that according to published industrial hygiene literature, this level of exposure is

substantial.¹⁷ (Px. 2002, 147:19-20). Dr. Cohen also testified that CPChem's own dust studies undervalued the amount of asbestos workers were exposed to by measuring the exposure for only a small fraction of the workday and then extrapolating the values, as opposed to a continual monitoring of exposure levels over an eight-hour period.¹⁸ (Px. 2002, 164-167, 169:1-15). Dr. Cohen based his opinion on the NIOSH-approved fiber counting procedures, as well as EPA methodology for analysis of asbestos in bulk samples. ¹⁹ (Px. 2002, 100:10-101:23).

On cross-examination, CPChem's counsel presented Dr. Cohen with a hypothetical situation concerning asbestos-insulated pipes in the courthouse. Dr. Cohen stated that exposure to asbestos above ambient in the hypothetical courthouse would be "substantial and significant." (Px. 2002, 199:18-200:4). Dr. Cohen also stated that, when compared to "an individual who is

It might not be surprising that in a particular case, for example, that a claim made by a scientific witness has never been the subject of peer review, for the particular application at issue may not have ever interested any scientist.... Therefore, the Court determined that it could "neither rule out, nor rule in, for all cases and for all time the applicability of the factors mentioned in *Daubert*" because "[t]oo much depends upon the particular circumstances of the particular case at issue."

Miss. Transp. Com'n v. McLemore, 863 So.2d 31, 37 (Miss. 2003) (quoting Kumho Tire Co., Ltd. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137, 151 (1999)). CPChem's generalized statements to this Court hold no water and are not rooted in the record. As stated above, Dr. Cohen applied a methodology that was clearly and unequivocally rooted in science and approved by the scientific community.

Interestingly, CPChem quotes literature in its brief that states that "the threshold cumulative dose of asbestos necessary for clinical manifestations of asbestosis was between 25 and 200 fibers/ml-yrs (fibers/ml x number of years) of cumulative exposure," which is consistent with Dr. Cohen's opinion. (CPChem's Brief at 38).

CPChem does not challenge this portion of Dr. Cohen's testimony.

CPChem generally states that Dr. Cohen does not testify about whether his methodology has been tested, subjected to peer review, has an error rate, or whether it is generally accepted in the scientific community. CPChem also complains that Dr. Cohen did not "cite to any supporting scientific or epidemiological studies." (CPChem's Brief at 37). What is most interesting about these arguments is that, in making them, CPChem does not once cite to Dr. Cohen's actual testimony. Instead, CPChem cites to a portion of the argument section of their *Daubert* motion and two portions of the trial transcript in which CPChem's counsel addresses the trial judge. (CR-2959; 2980, 88; 2987; 117). In fact, the cite to CPChem's *Daubert* motion relies on a case, which states the following:

not sitting in the courtroom in your hypothetical asbestos-contaminated courtroom," an exposed individual would be at an elevated risk of suffering an asbestos-related disease. There is certainly nothing remarkable about this statement. See Borel v. Fibreboard Paper Products Corp., 493 F.2d 1076, 1094 (5th Cir. 1973) (recognizing that "the effect of exposure to asbestos dust is cumulative, that is, each exposure may result in an additional and separate injury"). Dr. Cohen never testified or suggested that Mr. Lofton need only prove exposure to "one fiber of asbestos from Flosal," as CPChem would have this Court believe. Dr. Cohen's opinion is clearly based on his expertise with the measurement of asbestos fibers, as well as its limitations, and he is certainly competent to testify as such. (Px. 2002, 164-167, 169:1-15). Dr. Cohen's opinions, as well as the methodology he used to arrive at those opinions, easily pass muster under the Daubert/McLemore standard.²⁰

D. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS TREATMENT OF EXHIBIT 950.

CPChem next undertakes what can only be described as a written tirade against Mr. Lofton's use of Exhibit 950 in his cross-examination of CPChem's expert, Dr. Robert Ross.²¹ Without making a single legal argument, CPChem merely sets forth the objections it made during trial with regard to Mr. Lofton's cross-examination of Dr. Ross, and obliquely states that Exhibit 950 should have been excluded on grounds of foundation, relevance, prejudice, speculation, and confusion of the jury. These objections are without merit.

CPChem cites to three California cases in which Dr. Cohen's testimony was excluded. However, Dr. Cohen's testimony in those cases has no bearing on his opinion in this case and is irrelevant to CPChem. Again, this is yet another fact CPChem could have used to attack Dr. Cohen's credibility, as opposed to being the basis of a *Daubert* challenge.

Exhibit 950 contains records of wells drilled in Mississippi on which tons of Flosal was used. Dr. Ross was specifically asked about Exhibits 950-A through M (RE-16), which indicated that Mr. Lofton's employers had used Flosal.

Dr. Ross was called by CPChem as an expert witness. It follows, then, that Mr. Lofton was afforded the opportunity to cross-examine Dr. Ross concerning the basis of his conclusions. Additionally, the Mississippi Rules of Evidence are clear that cross-examination "shall not be limited to the subject matter of the direct examination and matters affecting the credibility of the MISS. R. EVID. 611(b). Moreover, leading questions are permitted on crossexamination. Id. at 611(c). And, of course, documentary evidence may also be used for impeachment purposes. The exhibit in question had been authenticated prior to trial and admitted as a business record. During direct examination, Dr. Ross offered his opinion and stated that he had formed this opinion without reviewing Mr. Lofton's work history. (Tr. 1069:27-1070:8; 1076:2-27). As pointed out to the jury, however, Dr. Ross authored a medical treatise that asserts that a doctor must obtain an occupational history of asbestos exposure before a diagnosis of an asbestos related disease can be made. (RE-17, Dx. ID Ross 2; Tr. 1069:27-1070:8, 1076:2-27, 1077:14-1078:28). On cross-examination, therefore, Mr. Lofton was without question entitled to present Dr. Ross with documents that corroborated Mr. Lofton's work history and occupational exposure to asbestos and ask whether the existence of those documents changed his expert opinion. CPChem's objections were unwarranted and were properly overruled by the trial court.

E. THE JURY'S VERDICT WAS NOT AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

CPChem argues that the jury's verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence because the jury decided against allocation of fault to various other parties, including Mr. Lofton's employers and other third parties. First, CPChem has waived this argument. In its motion for new trial, CPChem simply and summarily stated that, "[f]or all the reasons,

authorities, and evidence set out in this memorandum and in the memorandum in support of JNOV, Defendant is entitled to a new trial because the jury's verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence." (CR-10588). Nowhere in its motion for new trial or for judgment notwithstanding the verdict did CPChem argue that the jury's verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence because of its failure to allocate fault among more than one party. (CR-10505-10530; 10575-10594). Similarly, CPChem failed to present this argument to the trial court during the hearing on its motions. (Tr. 1355:25-1361:21). CPChem also failed to raise this argument in its motion for directed verdict. (Tr. 1022:21-1035:29; 1227:2-22; 1284:7-1285:1). As such, this argument has been waived. In re Englargement & Extension of Mun. Boundaries of City of Clinton, 955 So.2d 307, 331 (Miss. 2007).

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